No. 45034-8-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

CITY OF LAKEWOOD,

Respondent/Cross-Petitioner

v.

ROBERT W. WILLIS,

Petitioner/Cross-Respondent.

---

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

David Iannotti  
WSBA #37542  
Attorney for Robert Willis  
Stewart MacNichols Harmell, Inc., P.S.  
655 West Smith Street, Suite 210  
Kent, WA 98032  
Telephone: 253-859-8840  
Fax: 253-859-2213

**

## **I. INTRODUCTION**

Mr. Robert Willis was found guilty in Lakewood Municipal Court of Begging in a Restricted Area for begging at an interstate off ramp intersection. The City of Lakewood has a city ordinance that prohibits begging in certain areas and during certain times. The ordinance does not prohibit other forms of solicitation. Mr. Willis appealed the conviction arguing that the ordinance was a violation of his constitutional rights to free speech, due process, and equal protection. Solicitation and begging are protected forms of speech. The ordinance is a facially content based prohibition on speech as it targets a specific form of speech as opposed to the behavior the ordinance attempts to protect against. The City of Lakewood must use the less restrictive means of accomplishing the stated purpose of the legislation if one is available, because it is a content based ordinance and strict scrutiny applies. Similarly, the ordinance is content based and it is a violation of Mr. Willis' right to due process and equal protection, as it prohibits people asking for help or money based on poverty.

## **II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

**1.** The Superior Court erred when it determined that LMC 09.4.020A is not a violation of Mr. Willis' First Amendment right to Freedom of Speech.

**A.** The Lakewood Municipal Code is a content based prohibition on speech in a public forum, therefore strict scrutiny applies.

**i.** The Lakewood Municipal Code is regulating speech in a public forum.

**ii.** The Lakewood Municipal Code is content based.

**iii.** Because the Lakewood Municipal Code is content based, the Court must apply strict scrutiny which requires the City of Lakewood to use a less restrictive alternative if one is available.

**B.** If the ordinance is content neutral, the City of Lakewood did not demonstrate through evidence that the ordinance supports a compelling state interest or that it was narrowly tailored to support that interest.

**2.** The Superior Court erred when it determined that LMC 09.4.020A is not a violation of Mr. Willis' 14th Amendment right to Due Process for vagueness.

3. The Superior Court erred when it determined that LMC 09.4.020A is not a violation of Mr. Willis' 14th Amendment right to Equal Protection, because of poverty.

### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Robert Willis was charged in Lakewood Municipal Court, Cause No.CR32174, with Begging in Restrictive Areas – LMC 9A.04.020A. *See* Exhibit 1, Amended Complaint, dated September 9, 2011.

The undisputed facts of this case are that Mr. Willis was standing at the N/B I-5 Exit to Gravelly Lake Drive SW in Lakewood, Washington. He was holding a cardboard sign toward traffic claiming something to the effect of “he was disabled and needed help”. The City alleged that this action put Mr. Willis in violation of Lakewood Municipal Code

**09A.4.020A - Restrictive Areas**, which states:

Begging shall be deemed a violation of this section of the municipal code under the following conditions: (1) at on and off ramps leading to and from state intersections from any City roadway or overpass; (2) at intersections of major/principal arterials (or islands on the principal arterials) in the City; (3) within twenty five (25) feet of an ATM machine, or financial institution; (4) within fifteen (15) feet of any (a) occupied handicapped parking space, (b) taxicab stand, or (c) bus stop, train station or in any public parking lot or structure or walkway dedicated to such parking lot or structure; (5) before sunrise or after sunset at any public transportation facility or on any public transportation vehicle or (6) while a person is under the influence of alcohol or controlled substances. (Ord. 532 § 1 (part), 2011.).



“Begging” is defined under LMC 09A.4.020 (E) – **Definitions**, as “asking for money or goods as a charity, whether by words, bodily gestures, signs or other means.” Mr. Willis was not charged under the Aggressive Begging section of LMC 09A.4.010. *See* Exhibit 2, Chapter 9A.04 Aggressive Begging of the Lakewood Municipal Code (LMC), *in its entirety*.

The jury trial was held on November 16, 2012, where the jury found Mr. Willis Guilty of Begging in Restrictive Areas and the court proceeded to sentencing.

Mr. Willis appealed the decision to the Pierce County Superior Court. Argument was heard on June 7, 2013, and the Superior Court declined to answer whether the code was content neutral and affirmed the lower Court’s ruling.

Mr. Willis sought discretionary review of these issues in the Court of Appeals, which was granted on August 28, 2013.

#### **IV. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

##### **1. The Superior Court erred when it determined that LMC 09.4.020A is not a violation of Mr. Willis’ First Amendment right to Freedom of Speech.**

The constitution allows regulation of protected speech in certain circumstances. *Bering v. Share*, 106 Wash.2d 212, 221–22, 721 P.2d 918 (1986), cert. dismissed, 479 U.S. 1050, 107 S.Ct. 940, 93 L.Ed.2d 990

(1987), *City of Seattle v. Huff*, 111 Wash.2d 923, at 926, 767 P.2d 572, Wash., (1989). However, Government interference with speech or expressive conduct is generally prohibited by the First Amendment. *State v. Halstien*, 122 Wash.2d 109, 121, 857 P.2d 270 (1993). When the Government restricts speech, the Government bears the burden of proving the constitutionality of its actions. *Greater New Orleans Broadcasting Assn., Inc. v. United States*, 527 U.S. 173, 183, 119 S.Ct. 1923, 144 L.Ed.2d 161 (1999).

The United States Supreme Court held that “solicitation to pay or contribute money” or more specifically, begging is “within the protections of the First Amendment.” *Schaumburg v. Citizens for Better Environment*, 444 U.S. 620, 633, 100 S.Ct. 826, 834 63 L.Ed.2d 73 (1980), *U.S. v. Kokinda*, 497 U.S. 720, 725, 110 S.Ct. 3115, 3118–19, 111 L.Ed.2d 571 (1990) (“Solicitation is a recognized form of speech protected by the First Amendment.”), *Roulette v. City of Seattle*, 850 F.Supp. 1442 (1994). Begging constitutes communicative activity of some sort. *Loper v. New York City Police Dept.*, 999 F.2d 699, 704 (1993), *Riley v. National Federation of Blind, Inc.*, 487 U.S. 781, 108 S.Ct. 2667, 101 L.Ed.2d 669 (1988) (solicitation is protected First Amendment activity); *Secretary of Maryland v. Joseph H. Munson Co.*, 467 U.S. 947, 104 S.Ct. 2839, 81 L.Ed.2d 786 (1984) (solicitation is protected First Amendment activity);

*Blair v. Shanahan*, 775 F.Supp. 1315, 1322, 1324 (N.D.Cal.1991)

(begging constitutes protected speech).

The City of Lakewood Ordinance LMC 09A.4.020A prohibits begging in certain designated public areas and is a violation of city code punishable as a misdemeanor with up to 90 days jail and/or \$1000 fine. LMC 9A.04.020A is a prohibition on constitutionally protected speech because it places a ban on begging. Since the conduct prohibited is in a public forum and is content based, strict scrutiny must be applied.

**A. The Lakewood Municipal Code is a content based prohibition on speech in a public forum, therefore strict scrutiny applies.**

**i. The Lakewood Municipal Code is regulating speech in a public forum.**

The extent of permissible regulation depends on whether the speech takes place in a public or a private forum. *Huff*, 111 Wash.2d at 927, 767 P.2d 572. “[T]he First Amendment affords more protection to speech in a public forum, a place traditionally devoted to assembly and debate, and to channels of communication used by the public at large for assembly and speech.” *City of Seattle v. Ivan*, 71 Wash.App. 145, at 152, 856 P.2d 1116, (1993).

The traditional public forum includes those places such as parks, streets and sidewalks. *Collier v. City of Tacoma*, 121 Wash. 2d 737, 746-47, 854 P.2d 1046, 1050 (1993). Streets and parks are “held in trust for

the use of the public and, time out of mind, have been used for purposes of assembly, communicating thoughts between citizens, and discussing public questions.” *Acorn v. City of Phoenix*, 798 F.2d 1260, 1264-66 (9th Cir. 1986) overruled on other issues by *Comite de Jornaleros de Redondo Beach v. City of Redondo Beach*, 657 F.3d 936 (9th Cir. 2011). Use of streets and public places has, “from ancient times, been a part of the privileges, immunities, rights, and liberties of citizens.” *Id.*

The location and purpose of the property and the government’s subjective intent for building the property are considered when determining the nature of the property for forum analysis. *Jacobsen v. Bonine*, 123 F.3d 1272, 1273 (1997). In *Jacobsen*, the Court held that walkways in rest areas built on interstate highways did not have the characteristics of traditional sidewalks because the walkways were accessible only by persons traveling in motor vehicles on interstate highways and not all pedestrian traffic. *Id.*; see also *Kokinda*, 497 U.S. at 727 (distinguishing a municipal sidewalk which runs parallel to a road which was a public passageway to the entrance sidewalk of a post office).

The majority of the areas listed in LMC 09A.4.020A where speech is restricted are public places used as common thoroughfares. LMC 09A.4.020A includes public sidewalks or roadways which are accessible

to all members of the public. Walkways, which are accessible to everyone and used as public thoroughfares, are public forums.

In the present case, Mr. Willis was found to be in violation of section (1) which prohibited him from begging “at on and off ramps leading to and from state intersections from any city roadway or overpass.” Mr. Willis was at the N/B I-5 Exit to Gravelly Lake Drive SW intersection. This intersection has a sidewalk, crosswalk and traffic signal which is accessible by everyone in the general public and used as a thoroughfare for Gravelly Lake Drive. Intersections are traditional public forums where ideas are expressed. Political signs, signs for employment, signs for church, real estate sales, advertising for community and charitable functions are all typical types of communications that happen in these areas. In this case, the ordinance is regulating speech in a public forum because the N/B I-5 exit to Gravelly Lake Drive SW is accessible by everyone and is a public thoroughfare.

**ii. The Lakewood Municipal Code is content based.**

In a public forum, the government may only impose reasonable restrictions on the time, place, and manner of protected speech, provided the restrictions are content-neutral, are narrowly tailored to serve a significant governmental interest, and leave open ample alternative channels of communication. *Ward v. Rock Against Racism*, 491 U.S. 781,

791, 109 S.Ct. 2746, 2753, 105 L.Ed.2d 661 (1989). The restriction “may not be based upon either the content or subject matter of speech.” *Heffron v. International Soc. for Krishna Consciousness, Inc.*, 452 U.S. 640,648, 101 S.Ct. 2559, 2664 (1981); (quoting *Consolidated Edison Co. v. Public Serv. Comm’n*, 447 U.S. 530, 536, 100 S.Ct. 2326, 2336, 65 L.Ed.2d 319 (1980)).

“Laws that by their terms distinguish favored speech from disfavored speech on the basis of the ideas or views expressed are content based.” *Turner Broad. Sys., Inc. v. F.C.C.*, 512 U.S. 622, 643, 114 S.Ct. 2445, 2459-60, 129 L.Ed.2d 497 (1994). City Ordinances that proscribe certain forms of solicitations while permitting other forms are content based since these laws are making a distinction between “good” forms of solicitations, such as selling girl scout cookies, and “bad” forms, such as begging. *Id.* In determining whether a restriction is content-neutral or content-based, the Supreme Court has held that “[g]overnment regulation of expressive activity is content neutral so long as it is ‘justified without reference to the content of the regulated speech.’ ” *Rock Against Racism*, 491 U.S. at 791, 109 S.Ct. at 2753 (quoting *Clark v. Community for Creative Non-Violence*, 468 U.S. 288, 293, 104 S.Ct. 3065, 3069, 82 L.Ed.2d 221 (1984)).

“A regulation that serves purposes unrelated to the content of expression is deemed neutral, even if it has an incidental effect on some speakers or messages but not others.” *Rock Against Racism*, 491 U.S. at 791. However, “the mere assertion of a content-neutral purpose [is not] enough to save a law which, on its face, discriminates based on content.” *Turner Broad. Sys., Inc.*, 512 U.S. at 642-43. “As a general rule, laws that by their terms distinguish favored speech on the basis of the ideas or views expressed are content based.” *Id.* at 643. A solicitation ordinance is content-based if either the main purpose in enacting it is to suppress or exalt speech of certain content, or it differentiates based on the content of speech on its face. *A.C.L.U. of Nevada v. City of Las Vegas*, 466 F.3d 784, 793 (9th Cir. 2006).

In the present case, the language in LMC 9A.4.020A is content based on its face. LMC 9A.4.020A specifically bans “begging,” which is a protected area of speech. The ordinance does not ban any other form of speech or other forms of solicitation in the listed areas. A person would still be able to enter into the areas listed and sell a product, collect signatures, promote a religion or political idea, or advertise a business without violating the ordinance. The language of the Ordinance is specifically targeted towards the content and type of speech in these public

places by banning “begging”, as opposed to preventing the conduct that is allegedly the government interest, which is interfering with traffic.

The U.S. Supreme Court analyzed several separate city ordinances involving bans on solicitation. *See Heffron v. International Soc. for Krishna Consciousness, Inc.*, 452 U.S. 640, 649, 101 S.Ct. 2559, 2564, 69 L.Ed.2d 298 (1981) (State Fair regulation requiring that sales and solicitations take place at designated locations “applies evenhandedly to all who wish to distribute and sell written materials or to solicit funds”); *see also Kokinda*, 497 U.S. at 736 (statute regulating soliciting in front of post office is content neutral because it applies even handedly to all forms of solicitation and does not “suppress the views of any ‘disfavored or unpopular political advocacy group’”); *in the alternative see A.C.L.U. of Nevada v. City of Las Vegas*, 466 F.3d 784, 793 (9th Cir. 2006) (finding a city ordinance prohibiting solicitation of handbills based on the content to be content based). The cases analyze solicitation broadly, which includes soliciting employment, business, or charitable contributions of any kind. *Id.* These same laws would not have been found to be constitutional if they only prohibited charitable solicitations but permitted other forms of solicitation.

The city of Lakewood’s ordinance regulates protected speech and not the behavior. Further, Lakewood’s code specifically prohibits one



class of solicitation and leaves other types of solicitation legal. The ordinance regulates begging. In fact, the behaviors regulated in the above cases are permissible under the Lakewood ordinance. One could sell girl scout cookies in front of the post office or one could hand out Krishna or other solicitations to cars and pedestrians and not be in violation of Lakewood's code. However, Mr. Willis' behavior would be prohibited by the ordinances addressed above, which is why Lakewood's code is not content neutral.

**iii. The Lakewood Municipal Code is content based, therefore the Court must apply strict scrutiny which requires the City of Lakewood to use a less restrictive alternative if one is available.**

If a City Ordinance regulates speech based on its content, it must be narrowly tailored to promote a compelling City interest. *United States v. Playboy Entm't Grp., Inc.*, 529 U.S. 803, 816, 120 S.Ct. 1878, 1888, 146 L.Ed.2d 865 (2000). If a less restrictive alternative would serve the City's purpose, the legislature must use that alternative. It is the City's obligation to prove that any plausible alternatives will be ineffective to achieve its goals. *Id.*

There are several alternative methods the City of Lakewood could have adopted to accomplish the same effect which are less restrictive and would not violate Mr. Willis' constitutional rights. The City of Lakewood

could have prohibited people from approaching cars in these areas for the purpose of soliciting, which would be constitutional under similar Supreme Courts findings. *See Ass'n of Cmty. Organizations for Reform Now v. St. Louis Cnty.*, 930 F.2d 591, 593 (8th Cir. 1991), (Holding that a County ordinance prohibiting a person from standing “in a roadway for the purpose of soliciting a ride, employment, charitable contribution or business from the occupant of any vehicle” to be constitutional and not content based.) If the City were to adopt an ordinance similar to this, it would be content neutral since neither the law nor the purpose behind enforcing the law is prohibiting conduct based on content. Yet, the ordinance would still have an incidental but permissible effect of prohibiting constitutionally protected speech because it applies evenhandedly to everyone. That law is an example of constitutional legislation that on its face does not discriminate between different types of solicitation, by identifying the conduct and not the speech that it is trying to protect against. This is unlike the current Lakewood City ordinance which attacks the speech of the individual and not the conduct.

The City already has an ordinance which makes a person guilty of disorderly conduct “if he or she: ... (3) Intentionally obstructs vehicular or pedestrian travel or traffic without lawful authority.” LMC 09A.8.010- Disorderly Conduct. The city also has ordinances which prohibit people

from loitering or trespassing which could be used to affectively prevent the conduct in this case.

Additionally, the Lakewood Municipal Code 09.4.010, which is a prohibition of aggressive begging, addresses the danger of intimidation or risk of danger to members of the community at ATMs or handicapped spaces. Case law allows prohibitions against threatening speech and permits laws that prevent aggressive begging. The City of Lakewood already has a statute that specifically addresses danger to members of the community by prohibiting aggressive begging.

Based on the numerous city ordinances and laws currently in effect that address this conduct and possible alternatives that exist, less restrictive alternatives to 9A.04.020A exist. As a result, this statute is unnecessary and clearly isn't for the purpose of safe guarding the community.

**B. If the ordinance is content neutral, the City of Lakewood did not demonstrate through evidence that the ordinance supports a compelling state interest or that it was narrowly tailored to support that interest.**

The Washington State Constitution diverges from the Supreme Court on the “significant state interest” element of the time, place, and manner test, where “restrictions on speech can be imposed consistent with Const. art. 1, § 5 only upon showing a compelling state interest.” *Bering*

*v. Share*, 106 Wash.2d at 234. To constitute a compelling interest, the purpose must be a fundamental one and the legislation must bear a reasonable relation to the achievement of the purpose. *Adult Entertainment Center, Inc. v. Pierce Cy.*, 57 Wash.App. 435, 439, 788 P.2d 1102, *review denied*, 115 Wash.2d 1006, 796 P.2d 725 (1990). See *Bates v. Little Rock*, 361 U.S. 516, 524-25, 80 S.Ct. 412, 417-18, 4 L.Ed.2d 480 (1960).

The City of Lakewood is required to produce evidence to show that the purpose of the legislation is a fundamental one and that the legislation actually addresses the problem it purports to resolve. *City of Renton v. Playtime Theatres, Inc.*, 475 U.S. 41, 51-52, 106 S. Ct. 925, 931, 89 L. Ed. 2d 29 (1986). The First Amendment does not require a city, before enacting the code, to conduct new studies or produce evidence independent of that already generated by other cities, so long as whatever evidence the city relies upon is reasonably believed to be relevant to the problem that the city addresses. *Id.*

In this case, the City presented no evidence to support how the City Council came to the conclusion that this was protecting a compelling government interest. The fundamental City interest stated by the City Council for enacting this Ordinance is that there is a “danger of collision or injury to motorists or pedestrians that is created when distracted drivers attempt to make contribution to people requesting assistance at highway

on and off ramps.” Additionally, the City states: “when begging or panhandling takes place, near Automated Teller Machines (ATMS), Financial Institutions, and at public transportation facilities, or near disabled person parking spaces, or when following individuals for the purpose of soliciting, there is a risk of danger or intimidation to members of the community.” Lakewood City Ordinance No. 532 (Ord. 532 § 1(part), 2011).

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