#### No. 45034-8-II

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF LAKEWOOD,

Respondent,

Vs.

ROBERT W. WILLIS,

Petitioner.

### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, CITY OF LAKEWOOD

Matthew S. Kaser, WSBA # 32239 CITY OF LAKEWOOD 6000 Main Street Lakewood, WA 98499-5027 Telephone: (253) 589-2489 Facsimile: (253) 589-3774 Attorney for Respondent,

City of Lakewood

### **

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

(1997). The City does not contest this assumption. The second assumption is that a freeway on/off ramp is a "public forum." This, in turn, impacts what level of scrutiny is applied to Lakewood's Code. For the first time, Mr. Willis dedicates appreciable briefing to make the case that a freeway interchange is a "public forum," entitled to heightened First Amendment protections. Should the issue be reached at all, freeway ramps are not "public forums," entitled to the sort of First Amendment protections sought by Mr. Willis.

Nevertheless, even taking these assumptions into account, the Code passes First Amendment scrutiny.

1. Mr. Willis Has Failed to Demonstrate that Freeway
Ramps Constitute Public Forums Deserving of
Heightened First Amendment Scrutiny.

For the first time before this Court, Mr. Willis expands upon his contention that Lakewood is regulating speech in a public forum. (Br. of Appellant at p. 6-8). Mr. Willis did not dedicate any meaningful constitutional analysis to this issue before the superior court. Indeed, before the superior court both parties dedicated scant briefing to the claim that freeway ramps were public forums under the First Amendment. Because Mr. Willis' briefing to this Court suggests that this assumption should be revisited, the City responds: freeway ramps are not public forums entitled to heightened protections under the First Amendment.

Whether the location is a "public forum," represents a "fork," in the analysis; "an analysis of the 'character of the property at issue' is the touchstone of a legal inquiry into the constitutional validity of a regulation that attempts to limit expressive activity." City of Seattle v. Mighty Movers, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 343, 350, 96 P.3d 979 (2004)(quoting, Perry Educ. Ass'n v. Perry Local Educators' Ass'n, 460 U.S. 37, 44 (1983)). Under both the federal and state constitutions, "[s]peech in nonpublic forums may be restricted if 'the distinctions drawn are reasonable in light of the purpose served by the forum and are viewpoint neutral." Mighty Movers, 152 Wn.2d at 351 (quoting, Seattle v. Huff, 111 Wn.2d 923, 928, 767 P.2d 572 (1989)(ellipsis removed)). On the other hand, "speech in a public forum ... is subject to restrictions on time, place, and manner of expression which are content-neutral, are narrowly tailored to serve a significant government interest, and leave open ample alternative channels Mighty Movers, 152 Wn.2d at 350 (citations of communication." omitted). If these assumptions are revisited, as Mr. Willis suggests, freeway ramps are not public forums deserving First Amendment protection.

Part of the inherent difficulty in addressing this claim is that Mr. Willis challenged the ordinance for the first time on review. Washington law recognizes that a defendant may properly raise a constitutional

challenge for the first time on appeal to challenge the statute under which they were convicted. State v. Ruff, 122 Wn.2d 731, 733 fn. 1, 861 P.2d 1063 (1993). But, this holding rests on Rules on Appeal (RAP) 2.5. However, the Rules on Appeal for Courts of Limited Jurisdiction (RALJ), unlike the RAP, do not currently explicitly provide for such a constitutional challenge for the first time on appeal.<sup>4</sup> Assuming that a constitutional challenge for the first time on appeal is appropriate, the nature of the challenge leads to the real problem with Mr. Willis' analysis: appellate courts do not find facts. Thorndike v. Hesperian Orchards, Inc., 54 Wn.2d 570, 575, 343 P.2d 183 (1959). And, because the challenge arises for the first time on appeal, there is no factual record developed by Mr. Willis to support many of his claims. Assuming, that these defects are not unto themselves fatal, a straightforward legal analysis demonstrates that freeway ramps, and those areas adjacent thereto are not traditional public forums.

"Generally, courts looking at the question of whether government owned property is a public forum have considered whether a 'principal

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> RAP 2.5(a)(3) permits a challenge for the first time on appeal to a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." Under *Ruff*, a constitutional challenge to a statue or code under which a defendant was convicted qualifies. But the RALJ currently lacks such a provision. However, in November 2013, the Supreme Court has published for comment a proposed amendment to RALJ 2.2 whose language would mirror RAP 2.5(a). Nevertheless, RAP 2.5 can be invoked even if the issue was not raised before an intermediate appellate court. *City of Bellevue v. Lorang*, 140 Wn.2d 19, 30 fn. 6, 992 P.2d 496 (2000).

purpose' of the property is the free exchange of ideas, whether the property shares the characteristics of a traditional public forum, and the historical use of the property." *Sanders v. City of Seattle*, 160 Wn.2d 198, 211, 156 P.3d 874 (2007)(citations omitted). In Washington, as it relates to freeways, such as Interstate 5, those roads are regarded as "limited access highways." As their name suggests, these roads are "especially designed or designated for through traffic, and over, from, or to which owners or occupants of abutting land, or other persons, have no right or easement," excepting for a "limited right or easement of access, light, air, or view." RCW 47.52.010 (Emphasis added).

Washington appears to have adopted a test stated by the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals in determining whether an area is a traditional public forum and examining three facts: (1) "the actual use and purposes of the property, particularly its status as a public thoroughfare and availability of free public access to the area;" (2) "the area's physical characteristics, including its location and the existence of clear boundaries;" and (3) the "traditional or historic use of both the property in question and other similar properties." *Sanders*, 160 Wn.2d at 213 (citing, *ACLU of Nev. v. City of Las Vegas*, 333 F.3d 1092, 1101 (9th Cir. 2003)). These factors are inherently fact-based. And, because this claim arises for

the first time on appeal, there are scant facts by which to conduct any real analysis.

Much of Mr. Willis' analysis assumes that he was situated on a sidewalk at the time of this incident, but there is no proof of this.<sup>5</sup> Even assuming a "sidewalk," for First Amendment purposes, "not all sidewalks are public forums." *Chad v. City of Fort Lauderdale*, 861 F. Supp. 1057, 1061 (S.D. Fla. 1994)(collecting cases). However, "[e]ven protected speech is not equally permissible in all places and at all times." *Cornelius v. NAACP Legal Defense & Ed. Fund, Inc.*, 473 US 788, 799 (1985). The issue is whether (at the risk of oversimplification) the property has "immemorially been held in trust for the use of the public and, time out of mind," and "used for purposes of assembly, communicating thoughts between citizens, and discussing public questions." *Hague v. Committee for Indus. Org.*, 307 U.S. 496, 515-16 (1939).

Given this, Mr. Willis has not satisfied his burden to demonstrate on this limited record that a freeway ramp constitutes a public forum. He cites no case which has held that such a location has been treated as a public forum. Rather, those courts that have looked at freeway-based First

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Officer Valhe's testimony reflects the location where he stopped was on the ramp and had no shoulder, but he activated his overhead lights to avoid being hit. (CP 56-57). He then observed Mr. Willis, walking from a road shoulder (which is unclear from the testimony where this was relative to Officer Valhe's stopped patrol car), across the fog line, into the lane of travel to another vehicle. (CP 56-57).

Amendment regulations have reached the opposite conclusion. Particularly noteworthy is observation, as stated by one federal court, in the context of a different freeway-based free speech challenge, about whether such locations are public forums,

[The location] on the Interstate 5 freeway ... is not as compatible with the nature of expressive activity expected at a traditional public or designated public forum, such as assembly, debating, and protesting, as would be, for instance, a public square or park, because [the location] is located on the shoulder of a major freeway with high-speed vehicular traffic.

San Diego Minutemen v. Cal. Bus., Transp. & Hous., 570 F. Supp. 2d 1229, 1250 (S.D. Cal. 2008)(citing, Hopper v. City of Pasco, 241 F.3d 1067, 1078 (9th Cir. 2001)).

In this vein, other freeway related locales have been deemed unworthy to be treated as a "public forums," justifying access under the First Amendment. *Jacobsen v. Bonine*, 123 F.3d 1272 (9th Cir. 1997)(rest areas); *Sentinel Communications Co. v. Watts*, 936 F.2d 1189 (11th Cir., 1991) (same).

Revising these assumptions made at the superior court level, a freeway ramp is not a "public forum." But even continuing to assume, without conceding that a freeway ramp is a "public forum," the balance of Mr. Willis' challenges do not trigger a First Amendment violation under a heightened analysis.

#### 2. The Code is Content Neutral.

The Superior Court incorrectly declined to make a determination whether LMC 9A.4.020A is content neutral and proceeded to analyze the other aspects of Mr. Willis' challenges. Before reaching those other issues raised by Mr. Willis, it is first necessary to determine the issue raised by the City on its cross-appeal: whether LMC 9A.4.020A is content neutral.

The touchstone in determining whether a regulation is content neutral, "in speech cases generally and in time, place, or manner cases in particular, is whether the government has adopted a regulation of speech because of disagreement with the message it conveys." *Ward v. Rock Against Racism*, 491 U.S. 781, 791 (1989). A regulation that serves purposes unrelated to the content of expression is deemed neutral, even if it has an incidental effect on some speakers or messages but not others. *See Renton v. Playtime Theatres, Inc.*, 475 U.S. 41, 47-48 (1986); *Ward*, 491 U.S. at 791.

Lakewood's Code passes the *Ward* test on several fronts. First, Lakewood's Code is not a "regulation of speech." Rather it is a regulation of where some speech may occur. *See e.g., Hill v. Colorado*, 530 U.S. 703, 719 (2000). Second, as in *Hill*, there is absolutely no showing that it is adopted "because of disagreement with the message it conveys." 530 U.S. at 719. Finally, the City's interest in in ensuring safe vehicular

access to and from Interstate 5 is wholly unrelated to the content of any such speech. *Id.*, 530 U.S. at 719.

Lakewood's Code limits "begging," which is defined as "asking for money or goods as a charity, whether by words, bodily gestures, signs or other means." LMC 9A.4.020(E). This definition mirrors virtually word-for-word the definition of "begging," contained in a City of Seattle Ordinance which was at issue and withstood multiple forms of constitutional challenge. *Roulette v. City of Seattle*, 850 F. Supp. 1442, 1451 (W.D. Wash. 1994), *aff'd on other grounds*, 78 F.3d 1425 (9th. Cir. 1996).

As it specifically relates to solicitation-related regulations, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals has identified that solicitation-based bans can be content neutral, "[a]lthough courts have held that bans on the *act of solicitation* are content-neutral, we have not found any case holding that a regulation that separates out *words of solicitation* for differential treatment is content-neutral." *ACLU v. City of Las Vegas*, 466 F.3d 784, 794 (9th Cir. 2006) (Emphasis by the Court; citations omitted). Even then though, "bans on certain *manner* of expression or expressive *conduct* [are] content-neutral." *Id.*, 466 F.3d at 794 (Emphasis by the Court; Citations omitted).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Although *Roulette* was appealed, the Ninth Circuit was not called upon to review this definition. 97 F.3d at 302 fn. 2.

Although the United States Supreme Court has not squarely confronted the issue, in a line of cases, it has suggested that solicitation-based restrictions are generally content-neutral. *See, United States v. Kokinda*, 497 U.S. 720, 736 (1990)(plurality)("It is the inherent nature of solicitation itself, a content-neutral ground, that the [Postal] Service justifiably relies upon when it concludes that solicitation is disruptive of its business."); 497 U.S. at 739 (Kennedy, J., concurring) ("The Postal Service regulation, narrow in its purpose, design, and effect, does not discriminate on the basis of content or viewpoint ..."); *see also, Heffron v. Int'l Soc. for Krishna Consciousness*, 452 U.S. 640, 649 (1981). It has also recognized that "face-to-face solicitation presents risks of duress that are an appropriate target of regulation." *Int'l Soc'y for Krishna Consciousness v. Lee*, 505 U.S. 672, 706 (1992).

The foregoing is consistent with those other courts which have sought to interpret the Supreme Court's solicitation-related jurisprudence in the roadside solicitation context. In *Los Angeles Alliance for Survival v. City of Los Angeles*, 22 Cal. 4th 352, 93 Cal. Rptr. 2d 1, 993 P.2d 334 (2000), the California Supreme Court was confronted with a certified question from the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals as to what was the proper standard under the California Constitution for analyzing the constitutionality of ordinances governing the public solicitation of funds,

i.e., in-person requests for the immediate donation or payment of money. It was faced with two competing views. The challengers of a Los Angeles Ordinance contended that such ordinances should be "content-based" and may be upheld only if the regulation satisfies the very stringent "strict scrutiny" standard. The municipalities maintained that the less stringent "intermediate scrutiny" standard applied, and thus a "time, place, and manner" analysis was appropriate. Surveying the United States Supreme Court's precedents in this regard, it concluded that

[The] high court opinions establish that a restriction on solicitation for immediate donation or exchange of funds may be found to be content neutral for purposes of the First Amendment even if the measure regulates such solicitation while leaving other types of speech untouched, so long as the regulation predominantly is addressed to the inherently intrusive and potentially coercive nature of that *kind* of speech, and not to the content of the speech.

993 P.2d at 346 (Emphasis by the Court; citations omitted).

Going one step further to evaluate lower federal court decisions on this issue, the California Supreme Court surveyed those cases and was able to conclude that "[a]ll lower court decisions of which we are aware, applying the First Amendment in this context, similarly have held ... that laws targeting solicitations but not other speech are nevertheless content neutral." *Id.* 993 P.2d at 346. It accordingly concluded that "banning all solicitation for immediate donations in certain captive audience areas, should be considered content neutral," under the California constitution.

993 P.2d at 350. That Court also added that the California constitution, like the constitutions of many other states (including Washington), provide greater protections than the federal constitution. 993 P.2d 341-342.

The New York high court has had the opportunity to specifically opine on a roadside panhandling regulations and has deemed such regulations to be content-neutral. People v. Barton, 8 N.Y.3d 70, 861 N.E.2d 75, 828 N.Y.S.2d 260 (N.Y. 2006). In Barton, the New York Court of Appeals was confronted with a First Amendment challenge to a City of Rochester municipal code which addressed panhandling. The Court highlighted two provisions of the Code. The first contained a prohibition that "[n]o person on a sidewalk or alongside a roadway shall solicit from any occupant of a motor vehicle that is on a street or other public place." Id., 8 N.Y.3d at 73 (quoting, City of Rochester City Code 44-4). The second provision contained a definition of "solicit," as "the spoken, written, or printed word or such other acts or bodily gestures as are conducted in furtherance of the purposes of immediately obtaining money or any other thing of value." Id. 8 N.Y.3d at 73 (quoting, Rochester City Code § 44-4 [B]).

The defendant was charged for a violation of this Code when "he allegedly waded into traffic on a highway exit ramp ... soliciting money from motorists." *Id.*, 8 N.Y.3d at 73. Challenging, as here, for the first

time on appeal, the applicable municipal code as not being content-neutral, including reaching into so-called "passive' panhandling [which] target[s] motorists--specifically, someone standing mute on the sidewalk, facing traffic in the street and holding a sign requesting immediate money or food..." 8 N.Y.3d at 76; New York's high court rejected any such challenge, reasoning simply,

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